Annual Report.

The year under review has been a period of constant growth.,
Not only did the Institute carry out its scientifiec program-
me, but also added considerably to its building area at the

Headquarters, During the year new and significant centact
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were made with scientific institutions. The Institute pua¥&-

gl Gl represented at the second Acs

Internationale pour le Pacte Roerich held on August 8th,J932
&[v'u_vs

at Bruges, Belgium, The Institute was happy to skew thus its

to the important work carried out by the Union under

President M. C.Tulpineck.

DEPARTMENT OF ARCHAEOLOGY, RELAN J Se

During the past year, the department was engag

I. Bthn aphic and linguistic exploration of Lahul { N.W.HimElayas
The costiof this trip was again donated by Professor de Roerich.

2, Work on the large Tibetan-English Dictionary to be published by
thie Institute.

3. The completion of the first volume of the series TIBETICA and
the prepafation of volumes II & III.

The Expedition left the headquarters of the Institute at Naggar on

the 25th of July, and established its headquarters at the summer

camp above Kyelang. This year's work consisted chieflyﬁn continuing

the linguistic survey undertaken by the Institute. New and interes-
ting material was collected on local folklore, and the collection

of Lahuli songs considerably increased.




The Director completed his study of the Tibetan dialeet of ILahul.
This monagraph is published as the first volume of the series
TIBETICA. It is contempleted to issue a series of such monagraphs
dedicated to different spoken dialects of Tibet. The mon@graphs
will form part of the series TIBETICA, and will consitute a Linguis=
tic Survey of Tibet. A study of the Zangskar Qialegt is in prepa-
ration, and itzis hoped to complete the worgnduring the next field
sééson. Each of these monegraphs will contain a description of the
phonetic and morphological structure of the dialect, songs and
texts printed in the Tibetan script and phonetic transeription, and
vocabularies in which each word will be given in its literary form,
its dialectical form, and the form used in Central Tibetan, which
rapidly becomes the lingua franca of Tibet, Other monegraphs of the
same series are planned and will include studies of the Spiti dialect,
the dialect of Nga-ri kor-sum, and that of the Western Hor ( Nub-hor).

During the stay in Lahul, the Director and Lama Lobzang Minggur.norje
o

continued to collect Tibetan xylographs. Lama Lobzang Mingyuq/%gi//

also engaged in gathering for the Institute a collection of gnas-yig
or guide-books to holy places of pilgrimage in Tivet and the Himalayas.,
These guide-books contain often valuable information offi the history

of Buddhism and its spread north of the HimaiéYan barrier. Many of
these places of pilgrimage represent sites of ancient pre-buddhistiec
religious c@lts, and their study is important to determine the inter-
relation of religious influences.

The Ethnographical collection of the Institute was considerably aug-
mented, and we take this opportunity to express our gratitude to Prof.

de Roerich for his several donations to the collection,




gzy%ﬁggiarge Tibetan-English Dictionary undertaken by the Institute's
staff, has made good progress during the year. A special leaflet was
issued to gziiig}subscriptions for the dictionary, and gratifying
results have been obtained. The leaflet contains a specimen page of
the dictionary., Every effort is being made by Lama Lobzang Mingyur
Dorje anqihe Director to complete the work towards 1934, Special
attention is paid to colloquial Tibetan which during the recent

period has coined many new wppds., It is a well-known fact that the
Tivetan language has a strong tendency to coin new words with the
material available in the language, and therefore the number of
loan-words is not so large as would be expected in a country which has
received its culture from Indi%‘and China. A special class is constituted
by honorific words and expressions. The existing dictionaries of the

Tibvetan language are sadly lacking words of this class, although the

is
honorific language of the countr§/6f/;he utmost importance for the
s its
proper understanding of the spoken language, and even ¥ge literary

form, The dictionary under preparation will include honorific words

and expressions, both literary and colloquial.

3. The first volume of the series TIBETICA has been completed and

will be issued early in 1933. Two other volumes are in preparation,

and will be issued in the course of I933-1I934,

As previously , the European Center of the Roerich Maseum in Paris

acted as representative of the Institute in Europe, and we take this
opportunity to express our sincere appreciation to Madame de Vaux-FPhali-
pau, and Dr,Georges Chklaver.

On January 9th,I1932, Madame de Vaux-Phalipau read a paper on the acti-

vities of the Institute before the Ethnographical Society of Paris.




At the same meeting, the Director's paper on the Ceremony of
Breaking the Stone, was read. ppfeas

The Director's communication to the XV-th International Congress
of Anthropology, held in Paris in September,I931, entitled :

" Probleme d'éthnologie tibetaine: les Goloks et leur caracté&e
ethnique " appeared in the "Ethnographie", Nouvelle Série,no.23,

1831,pp.139.

In Paris a Society of Ossetian Studies has been organized at the

European Centre of the Roerich Museum. The aim of the Society

is to investigate and collect data on the Ossetian language, folk-
lore and antiquity. At the first meeting of the Society, Captain
Dzambulat Dzanti, Secretary of the Society, read a, mtevashing
peper on the Ossetian language and the historical role of the
Alano-Ossetes., /The lecturer stressed the importance of the study
of the Ossetian language and people, the last remmant of a great

and powerful nation which once held sway in the vast expances of Ftee

Eurasian steppe-countryfﬂ<}zm BT o VERG L 5Ce 30 ] Bt €16
EE T 2 ._..iu SRt REEsds -4’5 UL Ofsedie
prmises doPe fEitPdly It is a
well-known fact that many rivers and localities in South Russia
still bear names which can be traced back to Iranian originals,
that is the language ot the ancient Sarmatians, the torefathers of
the Aland. Let us hope that by carefully exploring all'available
sources, and by applying a rigorous method to the study of the

ancient Ossetian, we shall be able to obtain fresh information on

the language of the Scythians and Sarmatians, vitobracosrdimeto
C&P*~QZanti~;BpEsseﬂted\mTiétaxx,dixigion&,ni/{hexpoweffuiﬂtribal




-

confederatTor—of—the~As-Atams,

The Ossetic folklore is extraordinar& rieh, and merits a careful
study to preserve this heroic epos from disappearance, Numerous
archaeological remains scattered throughout the Ossetian highlands
still await their explorer, for here we possess a real treasure
trove. y

The Soeciety hopes to ?n"; up a Centre of Ossetic studies to enable
Shaotends - 2 i ;

sefrorers to exploreXx this glorious and colourful Past,

The Himalavan Rescarch Institute welcomes this new undertaking, and
expresses the hope that the Society will give a new impetus to the
study of the Caucasus and the Burasian steppe-country, its antiquity,
and cultural heritage. C

The Society of Ossetian studies, and its able Secretary, Captain

Dzambulat Pzanti have started a noble and useful work.

Professor de Roerich presented to the Kasetessny Archacological Insti-

tute of America two og his recent paintings " Three Glaves" ( rep-

senting rock drawings discovered by the Expedition efe6kes@ in ILahul ),

"Menhirs in the Himalayas"., Both paintings have been forwarded to

the Archaeological Institute,
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DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL SCIENCES AND APPLIED RESEARCHE,
In March 1932 ¢ of the botanical and zoological collections gathered by
the. Institute in the course of the several expeditions during 1921-1932,
were shipped to the Roerich Museum in New-York in order to carry out their
roper investigation. The botanical collection gathered during the 2 Expe-~
dition to Rupshu, “adak and Zangskar was handed over to Dr,2.D.Merrill, Direc-
tor-in-Chief of the New-York Botanical Garden. The  identification of the
collection is being carried out under the personal supervision of Dr.E.D.
Merrill. Among the material sent to the N.Y.Botanical Garden there have been
found three new species of mosses to which Dr.,E.D.Merill has given the
llowing names:
Blindia RoericHii n.sh.
Lindbergia Koelzii n.sh.
Mielichhoferia labulensis n.sh.
The Institute wishes to express here its deep appreciation for the splendid
cooperation of Dr.Merrill, The zoological collection will be exhibited in
future at the Institute's Museum in New-York.
The National Museum of Natural History in Par onti to study the botani-
cal collection forwarded to them i (2 Q&1 S ; of Himeslayan
sent to them have been planted in the Mus s experimental garden
great many of them have germinated. This work is being carried out under
e supervision of Professor P.Lemoine,Director of the Museum of Natural

he Institute has arranged an exchange of botanical specimens with the

United States “ational Museum,Washington,D. and 147 Chinese phanerogams,col-

lected by Joseph F.Rock, Dorsett and Ching in the Sino-Tibetan borderland,
have been received. Material from the medium and higher altitudes of the
Himalayan region will be forwarded in exchange.

An exchange of botanical material has been also established with the Fan

Memorial Institute of Biology in Peking.




During the 1932 expedition to Lahul a representative mineralogical
collectioniof Lahul has been gathered by Mr.S.N.Roerich. The col-
lection will be exhibited in the Museum of the Headquarters,
A paleontological collection has been also started ( the collection
at present contains material from Spiti and Zaﬁgskar ). It is pro-
posed to develop this part of the Institute's work.

P,mgw .
DPr.W.Koelz is no mo¥e connected with the Himalayan Research Institute.//

Bio-chemical Labhoratory.

During I932 the Institute ﬁas completed the building of its Bio-che-
mical Laboratory. An account of the building is given elsewhere in
thgs issue of the Journal by Mr.V.Shibayev, who has devoted much of

his time and energy to the building, and we take this opportunity

to express omr 8in
mw%w g ,

QA XHr XO0bodET X I L XERE XFIPRIEET WL A survey of the proposed
was carried out and

in progress with the Government with the view to obtain the necesaary

water rights to establish the plant.

The scientific work of the department consisted chiefly in gathering

a collection of Tibetan Materia Medica. For this purpose a native

pract%ener has been engaged since February,I932., In this field, the

Institute planned its work along_ the lines of the splendid work carried
espPpim
out By Dr. Bernard Read, of the Pedeing Union Medical College, in =&
; Pharmacopoeia.
ancient Chinese MWgAemiavMedi®a. The Institute's collection of local

materia medica with data furnished by native mediecine men has been
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catalogued, and will form the basis offuture study of the
material in the laboratories of the Institute. Besides this
collection, the Institute possesses a.ﬁedicinal Qlant Qecord
in which are listed the #%»e medical uses of plants according
to pte Tibetan pharmacopoeia. In connection with the above

work, the Director has prepared a translation of the Nus-pa

o
rkyaqg—sel, a Tibetan work on pharmacology, containing a

1ist of Tibetan materis medica, according to the rGyud-ﬁgi and
the Baidurya sﬁonupo. It is hoped to publish the translation
as one of future volumes of the series TIBETICA.

Lama Lobzang Mingyur Dorje has been actively engaged in col-
lecting medical texts for the Library of the Institute, as
well as in gathering information for the Institute's Medicinal
Plant Record.

It is hoped that the equipment of the Institute's laboratories
will be soon completed in order to enable the Institute's staff
to continue their work in this important field.

Colonel A.%,Mahon, D.S.0. continued to conduct e Eg AR C By
Uoloadfvobowws., o5 the official representative of the Institute,
negotiations with Governmental authorities, and has visited

/

Delhi sdiebtedelon ¥ EeASRRGOLH onﬁgnstitute's business. We take

this opportunity to express to him our sincere appreciation fﬁf»fﬁ’

his ever-helpful assistance in the manifold problems confronting

During the aummen field-work,
the Institute 0le& Mrs Mahon stseRpemiedciinpruieiem.- visited the

Institute's camp in Lahul,
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During the past yea Library.. of the

Institute

through exchanges. Gifts of books wer e Cce

following and ratefully acknowledged by the Instit

Carnegie Institution,Washington, D.C.; Professor N.de Roerich;

ad. of the Peiping Medical Colege; Colonel A.E.Mahon,

Dr.T..Scherman, Dr.St.Fr.Michalski-Iwienski; Prof .Sk

and Geor de Roerich.

oS
B0

volume of the Journal of"Urusvati" Himalayan
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March 1932, and contained articles by
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An exchange of publie was continued with 2 following

institutions in Rur

Institute International d'Anthropologie (
Scciete d'Ethnog i Paris.

ociéte de Geographie Commerciale.(Paris e
ffice National des Plantes Medicinales ( Paris).
Museum d'histoire Naturelle ( Paris).
Laboratoire de Pharmacologie, Inc. (Paris).
Deutsche lorgenlandische Gesellschaft ( Halle).
Museum fuer Voelkerkunde ( Munich),
Orientalni Ustav ( Prague).
Museum of Far Bastern Antiquities ( Stockholm )
Le Monde Oriental ( Uppsala).
Kern Institute ( Leiden).
Le Bulletin des Missions ( Bruges ).
An exchange of publications was continued with the following
scientific institutions and publications in India:-
Government of India Geological Survey,
Royal Asiatic Society of Bombay.

Journal of the Andhra Historical Research Society.

Proceediq% of the Bose Institute, Calcutta.

Visva-Bharati, Bholpur.

Bhandarkar Oriental Research Institute, Poona.
Geological, Mining and Metallurgical Society of India.
Society of Biological Chemists, Bangalore.

Kashmir State Forest Department.
Indian H1?_)torieal Quaiterly Calcutta

U/\ff‘a( /{l"{)’?

Crem A Bagalore
Sei £ 1 Calcutta Cgﬁ‘t
/{ eientifie is 5 u/QL

Review of "Philosophy & Religion,Poona.
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Museumnme.

During the past period new material was added to the Natural

History collections of thé?useum. The Herbarium has been fitted

with adequate furniture ggasesdéatidemsyto accomodate the rapidly
increasing collections and material received in exchange.
Pugdidasen- The Institute's rooms in the Roerich Museum in New
York have drawn numerous visitors. A loan exhibition of 60 charts
from the botanical specimens sent by the Institute to the New
York Botanical Garden in the year 1931, was on display during

the months of January and February, after which it was forwarded
to the Buffalo Museum of Science, where it remained for the
period of a month. Loan exhibition from the Institute's Museum
have included botanical mand ethnological specimens to the Buffalo
Museum of Science.

,u,MZU/oC L“f

st 2 kﬁhﬁq
ﬁpge’ ) Activities in New York,

The year I932 has seen a marked expansion in the activities of
the Institute in New York., The activities have been supervised
by Miss Esther J.Lichtmann, who during hey long sojourn at the
Institite's headquarters in Naggar has i;:ﬁ:da first hand know-
ledge of conditions and work carried out at the headquarters.,

We express to her the Institute's sincere thanks for her kind
assistance. The Institute's office in New York remained in char-
ge of its secretary Miss Xathryn Linden,

During the course of the year, the following lectures were held

under the auspices of the Institute, and we take this opportunity

to thank the Society of Friends of the Roerich Museum and its




President Mrs N.Horch for their kind help in organizing

lectures:

Jan.IIth, Dr.E.D.Merrill, Director-in-Chief of the New

York Botanical Garden, lectured on " Crops and Civilization".///"
Jan.24th, Capt. John Noel, Member of the Mount Everest Expedi-
tion, 2eeid gave an illustrated lecture on " Kashmir and the

Mt.Bverest Expedition",

Jan.25th Dr.Ralph V.D.Magoffin, Head of Department of Classics,
New York University, lectured on the "Archaeological Glories of

the Past".

Feh.24th, Miss Esther J.Lichtmann lectured on "Kulu Valley =
the Realm of 360 gods".
May I8th, Capt. John Noel lectured on "The Land of the Lamas",.

Cet. 6th, Dr. N.Zavadsky, of the Radium Institute of Paris,

=

lectured on "The Heredity of Cancer Predisposition",. B

The Institute was particularly pleased tc sponsor also an exten-
sive illustrated lecture course by Dr.Ralph V.D.Magoffin on the

Art and Archaeology of Mediterranian countries, during the Fall

of 1932, The course, whicHwas endorsed by the BoRad of Education

of the City of New York, and for which college credit was given,

comprised the following subjects:

Oct. I7th, " An Archaeological Ramble through the ancient Near East".

Cct., 24th, " Egypt, Mesopotamia, Palestine, Syria, Crete and the
country of the Héttites from the Historical and Archaeolo-

gical foints of View ",




"Illustrated Art and History of Etruria, A Sphinx of
Antiquity ".
" Illustrated Art, Archaeology, and History of the

Minoans and Mycenaeans ",

Nov. I4th, " The Women of Ancient Greece and Rome ",

Nov. 2Ist, " The Art of the Greeks ",

Nov. 28th, " Daily Life and Times in Athens ",

Per. H5th, " Pompeii and Hergulanamm of Yesterday and To-day ",
Dec.I2th, " Roma Imperatrix Mundi".

Dec.I9th, " Contemporary Pictures of Roman Manners and Customs".
Dec. 26th, " The Roman and his Hours of HEase".

Jan. 2nd, " The Serious Work of Greek and Roman Life ",

The series of lectures by Dr.Ralph V.D.Magoffin was very well attended.
A number of activites were organized under the auspices of the Com-
mittee of the Bio-chemical Laboratory in New York, dedicated to the
construction and equipment of the Laboratory ard at the Headquarters
of the Institute. A collective subscription was startwd for the pur-
chase of the painting " St.Panteleimon the Healer ", graciously dona-
ted By Professor Nicholas de Roerich, together with the proceeds from

the sale of his book, " Realm of Light", for the benefit of this fund,
asel fo 5 Chair ma e ‘%L{.G.mﬁs‘s

Deep appreciation is here expressed to thne Committed/for their effort
and noble assistance in making possible this humanitarian research at

the Headquarters of the Institute., The Institute wishes also to express

here its gratitude to Captain John Noel, as well as the Colombian (S,A.)

Society of the Roerich Museum, and to Mme Iucia Gario, who have atran-

ged events for the benefit of this fund.




We are pleased to annonce that Dr, Frederick L.Hoffman, the emi-
nent authority on cancer, has joined the Institute as Honorary
“ember,

The American Press has commented widely on the cancer research
programme of the Institute, the American Society for the Control
of Cancer publishing in their Bulletin of February I932 a full-

page article by Miss Esther J.Lichtmann on the work of the Hima-

layan Research Institute, Aruayles on the Institute have appeared

also in the Bulletin of the Association of American Medical Col-
leges, the Journal of the Missouri Medical Association, and the

Bulletin of the New York Botanical Gardene.

To our Founders, Professor and Madame de Roerich, and to the

President and Moard of Trustees of the Roerich Museum, we owe
= o‘,ﬁ;"“ < (

gratefui-thanks sincere gratitude for théir constant. esempaataiiiem.

and furthering of the Institute's plans.




